Wong et al v. Board of Education Doc. 128

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

JAMESWONG andSUZANNE HOY,
Plaintiffs,

v No. 3:16cv-1873(VAB)

BOARD OF EDUCATION,
Defendant.

RULING AND ORDER ON CROSSMOTIONS FOR
JUDGMENT ON THE ADMINISTRATIVE RECORD

OnOctober 17, 2016, James Wong and Suzanne Hoy (“Plaintiff?arents”) filed a
lawsuit against the Board of Education of Southington, Connecticut (“Southingatie®)ing
that Southingtorviolated their son’¢*Student”)right to a freeappropriatgoublic education
(“FAPE”) underthe Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.CL&)0et seq.
(“IDEA™); the Americans with Disabilities@&, 42 U.S.C. § 12104t seq(“ADA”); andSection
504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a) (“Sech04”). Notice of Removal, ECF No.
1 (Nov. 15, 2016).

This action is an administrative appeal of a due process hearing officer ®dedatied
September 1, 2016, Btudent v. Southington Board of EducatiGase No16-0517(“Final
Decision”), whichfound that Southington provided Student with a FAPE for the 2013
school year (from the period of May 10, 2014 to the end of the school year); the@B.4
school year; the 2018016 school year; and the 262617 school yeaFinal Decision Case No.
15-0517 Wong v. SouthingtoieCF N0.90-1 at 29 (Sept. 1, 2016) (“Final Decision”).

Both Plaintiffs and Southington have moved for judgment on the administrative record.

For the following reasons, Plaintiffs’ motionDENIED and Southington’s motion is

GRANTED.
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BACKGROUND
A. Administrative Complaint
On May 9, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a Request fardartialSpecialEducation Haringfor
Southington’s alleged denial of a FAPE for Student, “leaving the parent[s] withenoadive
but to write a letter of ‘Unilateral Placement at Public Expense’ to SouthingtonliC&lehool”
Request for Impartial Special Education Hearing, ECF Nd. 805(May 9, 2016)“Hearing
Request”) Plaintiffs allegedinter alia, that:

e Southington denied Student his rights under Section 504 and the ADA by identifying him
“late” as a “twice exceptional Gifted Disabled chiléd”

e Southington denied Student an appropriate Individualized Education Plan (“I&R).
5-6.

e Southington did not hold adequd&tanning and Placemefieam (“PPT”) meetings, nor
did school staff “come prepared to the August [2015] PRI 4t 6.

e Student “additionally suffered discrimination as a twice exceptional giftetlddsa
‘Asian Student of Color’ and was harassed by” school dtaff.

e Southington denied Student an “accessible curriculum for both of his sixth and seventh
grade years afteraving been forced to struggle with his visual disability that the []
elementary school staff failed to [i]dentify[.]d.

e School administrators “systematically harassed the student and the parenis geasti
pain, unnecessary stress, humiliation, endsament, harm, loss of time, loss of
educational hours and financial damagés.”

e School administrators retaliated against Plaintiffs for their unilateral placemét by

“stripp[ing] the Service Plan completely from the items that it had containedteyse



that would not have cost any money” and 2) “den[ying] [Student] of the ‘door to door bus
service’ that had been provided for [sixth] and [seventh] grade and continued as per
written in his IEP for [eighth] gradeld.

e Southington failed to 1) schedule and pay for prescribed vision therapy; 2) “provide
timely triennial testing even after this was requested by the Catholic Schooiglfior H
School Transitional Planning3) hold a PPT after the Plaintiffs’ “multiple requests and
notification that the Spd had stripped the IEP of the student’s needed testing
accommodations”; 4) “coordinate the requisite testing accommodations for thé;B$AT
“keep to their commitment to send in someone to train the teachers at Southington
Catholic once a month in Exeotg Functioning training.1d. at 6-7.

Plaintiffs proposed the following as a resolution with Southington:

e reimbursement for all costs associated with Plaintiffs’ unilateral placementdsriat
Southington Catholic Schqgat. at 7, including for “mileage and driver’s time for door to
door service for [half] of school yeaid. at 8;

e compensation for “tuition reimbursement . . . for years lost of Middle Scppobgriate
education with four years of High School tuitiord at 7;

e “Compensatory Services for not providing appropriate executive functioning services and
handwriting/cursive . . . in the IEP,” including summer tutoridg,and

e “More frequent Vision Therapy sessions throughout the summer with transportation to
and from the 4D Vision Gym i@romwell to be continued until curedd.

B. The Hearing Officer's Decision
On June 13, 2016, Hearing Officer Janis C. Jerman (“Hearing Odkecaral) held a

telephonic prehearing conference. Final Decision and Order, ECF Nd. 8010 (Sept. 12016)



(“Final Decision”).After previously ruling on a motion to dismissvhere she dismissed certain
allegations for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, standing, ripenessingfautside the two
year statute dimitations—Hearing Officer Jerman idéfied seven issue® resolve:

1. Did Southington provide Student with a FAPE for the 2043%chool year from the
period May 10, 2014 to the end of the school year?

2. Did Southington provide Student with a FAPE for the 20%4chool year?
3. Did Southington provide Student with a FAPE for the 2@65chool year?
4. Did Southington provide Student with a FAPE for the 20I6&chool year?

5. If Southington didn’'t provide Student with a FAPE, is Student’s unilateral private
placement appropriate?

6. If theanswer to #5 is in the affirmative, are Studefrents entitled to reimbursement
for the cost of the unilateral private placement

7. If the answer to the first four questions are in the negative, what shall benthayfz

Id. at 10-11.Throughout the undlying administrative hearing®|laintiffs appeared on behalf of
Student, without counsdH. at 10.

Hearing Officer Jerman presided over four hearing datesgaysfor each sideo
present their casen July 18, 2016; July 26, 2016; July 27, 2016; and August 17, RDH6.11.

On September 1, 2016, Heari@fficer Jerman issued her Final Decision and Order
(“Final Decision”).ld. at 16-31. She made fiftyeight findings of fact and thirteen conclusions of
law. Id.

On December 20, 2012, during his fiihade year, Southington found Student eligible
for special education services under the primary disability of Specific Learimsagilly
(“SLD”). Id. at 12.Parents participated in the Planning and Placement Team (“PPT”) meeting to
develop an Individualized Education Program (“IEP”) for Studelnt.

During 2013, the PPT met several times to revise Student’s IEP, includingrafter



occupatimal therapy screener indicated that Student wasn’t meeting grade level expefdations
writing. Id. The PPT also incorporated recommendations from an independent psychological
evaluation of Student and an optometiidt.Some of the PPT’s recommendatipsisch as
counseling and completion of behavior rating scales, were denied by Plarents.

At the January 30, 2014 PPT meeting, which was Student’s annual review, Parents
requested changing Student’s primary disability designation from SLD to Visuakingeild.
at 13. The PPT declined “based on the Federal Register definition of Visuatrimapaand
based on the [Board of Education and Services for the Blind (“BESB”) consultamts} and
recommendationsfd. Despite not meeting the criteria, Souagton “provided services and
accommodationt meet his vision needs, including assistive technology and [occupational
therapy].”ld. The IEP also provided Student “access to a software program that converts speech
to text and vice versald. at 14.

Applicable toall school years, Hearing Officer Jermfaaind:

The credible evidencsupports a finding that Parents were invited
to all PP meetings; had an opportunity to ask questions, present
recommendations, and invite advocates or other relevant
professionals to participate; that certain of their requests were
implemented; and that they had time at PPT meetings and before
IEPs were im@mentedo raise additional concerns. There is also
credible evidence that the PPT convened regularly at Parents’
request. . .

The [IDEA] requires [Southington] to have an IEP in effect at the
beginning of each school year for each child wittisability. The
credible evidence supports a finding that BOE had an IEP in effect
for Student the beginning of each school year at issue in this case. .
. . that PPT decisions were not based on funding but were based on
providing Student with FAPE. For ample at Parents’ request,
BOE purchased an expensive software package for Student that was
not in use elsewhere in the district. . . . the services, supports and
accommodations were tailored to Student’'s needsParents did

not produce evidence that any of their advocacy or complaints
against [Southington] officials in any way impacted Student’s



educational program or the provision of FAPE.
Id. at 19-21. Hearing Officer Jerman also highlighted testimony that school administrators
“working directly with Student and his educational program did not witness any bullying,
harassment, or discrimination or receive complaints of such,” and thatlereditience in the
record supports the finding that “any frustration felt about Parents’ advocacy had tieenega
impact on Student’s educationd. at 21.As discussed more specifically below, she found that
Southington provided a FAPE to Student for all four academic years at issue.

I. 2013-2014Academic Year

Hearing Officer Jerman first found that, “[d]ue to #tatute of limitations, the scope of
this issue is limited to the short time from May 10, 2014 to the end of the school yeae in J
2014” 1d.

On May 19, 2014, Parents and Southington agreed to participate in a facilitated IEP:
Southington staffnembers of the PPT “felt that Parents were not satisfied no matter what they
did and thought that an independent facilitated Rteeting might improve the relationship and
make Parents satisfiedd. at 14.

Parents made numerous allegations related weStis sixth grade curriculum not being
accessible to him, but the Hearing Odfidcound that Southington provided Student a FAPE for

the relevant time perigénd described Student’s IEiR place from May 10, 2014 to the end of

1 The IEP includednter alia:

Goals and objectives to address written expression . . . Five hours per week
Language Arts support . . . Three hours per week Math support . . . Two hours per
week Science support . . . 3.83 hours per week support study iaf Social
Studies. . . . One hour per week organizational skills support . . . 46esinut
support study every 3 days Unified Arts rotation per Parents’ request for no
Family/Consumer Science . . . Online Science resources . . . Googld\Réa
TextHelp installed on laptop provided to Student . . . Google Voice Extension . .

. Continue use enlarged font for all music sheets . . . Continue to reinforce
Student’s expected use of large font and brightness contrast provided for reading
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the school yeald. at 21-22.

Specificdly, Hearing Officer Jerman found that “Special Education Coordinator 1
credibly testified that the PPT solicited Parents’ input, incorporamsammendations from
evaluators, reviewed present levelpefformanceand discussed and updateident’s
services to meet his needtd” at 22.She concluded that Student’s IEP for this period “included
appropriate recommendations aamtommodationtailed to [his] needs and was implemented in
an inclusion setting.Id.

ii. 2014-201%Academic Year

For this year, Student’s IEP remained the same as the prior years, and inoduded t
following changes: “Language Arts support reduced from five to three hours per week due to no
double block . . . [and] [e]limination of 46 minutes support study during Unified Arts per
Parents’ requestlt. at 23.At the end of his sixtlyrade year, Student’s grades ranged from B+
to A+.1d.

On September 25, 2014, the PPT met at Parents’ request and adopted additional
recommendatiorfs which was implemented into a revidé&P. Id. Southingtoralso ordered a
laptop and software for Student, which was delivered to him on November 3]@Rdrents
allegethis took too long, but the Hearing Officer found thatde&y was due to the required

laptop not being “readily available” and then needing to be “specially configuded.”

materials and hiwearing of eyeglasses . . . Continue to receive extended time for

all tests, projects, and timed work . . . Continue providing Student with a second
set of books for home use . . . the PPT declined Parents’ request for direct
handwriting skills, includig cursive writing . . . .

Final Decision at 22.
2The Hearing Officer detailed these fifteen recommendatisvhich ranged from “teacher will email parents same

day that Student is missing a homework assignment” to “accommodationsddeSBalanced Fid Test to meet
his vision needs[.]1d. at 23.



Following an incident on December 4, 2014, Student was suspended for thrdd.cdys.
24. Late that Friday afternoon, Studdrad“removed[from a teacher’s computedg] flashdrive,”
which containd “information regarding [other students’] disabilit[ies] and individualized
educational program[s]Letter from Assistant Principal, ECF No.-SGat 29 (Dec. 9, 2014).

The flashdrive “was recovered without incidentd., and Student waasolaterdismissed from
the National Junior Honor Society due to his “flagrant violation of school rules awtie |
Letter from NJHS Adviser, ECF No. at 32 (Jan. 15, 2015).

On January 16, 2015, the PPT met for Student’s annual review, as originally edhedul
but Parents did not atterfinal Decision at 24.

On March 27, 2015, a secoR®PTmeetingwas held so that Parents could attdddThis
PPTwas facilitated anthsted three hours, and Parertgho were represented by an attorney at
that time—had an opportunity to discuss their concerns with Southingtonlista#long with
other updatesto the IEP, Parents also agreed to a private neuropsychological evaluation for
Studentld. This IEP was designed to support Student through the remainder ovémehse
grade and to be carried over to the eighth griatle.

Although Parents agreed to all the IEP provisions, they later complained thae tthay

extension for completg assignments was “not reasonable” and “arbitrddy.at 25They“did

3 Although the letter is dated January 15, 2014 and not 2015, the Court asssrisea Hurivener’s error.
4 The March 27, 2015 IEP provided famter alia:

Student’s planner [to] be in an electronic format . . . daily annooects to be
embedded in electronic checklist . . . see Literacyi8jigmoneon-one three days

a week for 46 minutes focusing on writing support, organization, and executive
functioning skills . . . Math support in an inclusion setting three hours a week . .
continue to enlarge worksheets to size 14 font or larger . . . continued ag®pf |

and related software . . . five day extended deadline for homework . . . graph pap
to be included in binder.

Id. at 24.



not offer a specific time frame but felt that it should be opeded.”ld. Hearing Officer Jerman
found that “[g]iven the supports, services, and modifications provided to Student] as sl
present levels of performance, the fo@y period is reasonabldd. At theend of seventh grade,
Student’s grades ranged fromt® A+, even with enrollment in Advanced Algebra, “a more
rigorous curriculum than regular mathd:

The Hearing Officer concluded that during the 2Q045 school year, “Student’s IEPs
included appropriate recommendations and accommodations tailored to [his needs] and were
implemented in an inclusion setting,” and that Southington provided him with a FAPE.

iii. 2015-2016Academic Year

On May 4, 2015, as provided by the March 27, 2015 IEP, Student had a
neuropsychological examinatiokal.

On August 20, 2015, after receiving the evaluator’s report, the PPT convened for two
hoursto review the results and recommendations, and adjust Student’s |IEP as ypelokSHae
Hearing Officer found thabtudent was “making meaningful progress” with the support he
receivedld. The PPT also changed Stduent’s primary disability categony SLD to OH}
ADD/ADHD, or Other Health Impairmettention Deficit Disorder/Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorderld. The Hearing Officer found that Parents did not object to this change,
and the only concern they raised was to request vision therapy, which was againlideated.

26. Parents did not provide medical records or diagnosis indicating that Studehemet t

definition of visual impairmentd. at 25.Hearing Officer Jerman also found that the updates to



Student’sEP® were consistent with the evaluator’s recommendation.

At the end of thi®PT, Parents “read a prepared statement indicating that they intended to
unilaterally place Student at a parochial schddl.’at 26. Southington refused this requédt.
Student did not attend eighth grade with SouthindthriMr. Wong testified thatheir “concern
was not with the IEP itself but ‘with the people’ at [Southingtold.”

The Hearing Officer found that Student’s propodel were tailored to Student’s needs,
and that the IEP’s goals, objectives, and accommodations directly addresssezhknesses . . .
in executive functioning, organizing his work, and planning how long a task willde.”
Southington participated in development of a service plan for Student while unilapdnatyl at
Southington Catholic School, and received upglai®ut Student from Southington Catholic
School’s staff, whose observations “were not contrary to [Southington’s] observatens a
experience Id. She concluded that Southington offered Student a FAPE for theZZ21tb
school yearld.

iv. 20162017 Academt Year

On June 3, 2016, the PPT met to plan Student’s ninth gradédlESRaff from

Southington Catholic School attended and shared their observations of Student’s performance.

Id. The PPT determined that Student was eligible for special education under thwy prima

5 The August 20, 2015 IEP provided for the same accommodations as before, witthangesdo reflect the
recommendation in the neuropsychologist’s report, and:

discontinued Math goal; add academic support class three hours per week . .

[c]ontinue specialized transpation . . . [rlecommend counseling supports for
social skills . . . (Parent refused counseling) . . . [f]reconvene in Dec@@be
for annual and triennial review . . . [p]rovide Student with seven days beyond

original due date for missed homework assignments . . . [c]ontinue home/school
electronic communication.

Id. at 25-26.
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disability category of OHADD/ADHD. Id.

The Hearing Officer found that this IERIso addressed Student’s visual and executive
functioning needdd. at 27. In addition, she highlighted specific accommodatioaihelped
with Student’s visual issues, and noted that many of the supports were ones that ‘t&tddent
previous IEPS and which were shown to be success$fuldt 27-28.

Hearing Officer Jerman found:

Student’s executive functioning deficit is his greatgeakness. His

low processing speed may be average for other students but is low
for him based on his high intellectual capacity . Many of the
accommodations help with Student’s executive functioning needs .

. All of the services and accommodasprwhich take into
consideration ealuations and recommendations, will help him
because they are tailored to his needs and learning style and because
he is a bright child. . . . The parochial school staff who were present
were in agreement that the IEP reflects Student’s present levels of
performance and his needs. . . . Student continues to progress for his
age and grade.

Id. at 28.

Hearing Officer Jerman concluded that “[c]redible evidence supports a finding that
Student is making meaningful progress,” and that Southington offered him a FAPE for the 2016
2017 school yeaid.

v. Other Issues
Hearing Officer Jerman found that it was “not necessary to determine whettentS

unilateral private placement was appropriate,” because Southington providad~ARE

through the four relevant academic ye&sConsequently, she also found that “Parents are not

6 The June 3, 2016 IEP included academic support two days irdaysixycle for 46 minutes, continued use of the
laptop with related software;raails to Mr. Wong weekly with pgress updates, and more accommodations in the
following general areas: access to special matebatsks, equipment; extended time on tests, quizzes, and
assessments; organization; environment; behavioral interventidrsuipport; and instructional deegies.Id. at 26-

27.
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entitled to reimbursement for the cost of tindlateral private placement,” and “no remedy is
due.”ld.
C. Procedural History

The Court assumes familigriwith the underlying background of this casel will only
discuss the procedural history relevant to this mofs@eRuling and Order on De&’'Mot. to
Dismiss, ECF No. 21 (Jan. 22, 2018)yder, ECF No. 69 (Nov. 20, 202%uling on Mot. to
Amend Comp, ECF No. 104 (Apr. 27, 2020).

OnMay 10, 2018, the Court entered the scheduling order, which set the close of
discovery on September 7, 2018. Scheduling Order, ECRNMay 10, 2018)

On May 15, 2020, the parties filed their motions for judgment on the administrative
record and Plaintiffsvere granted requested leawenc pro tundo file a forty-onepage
memorandum of lawDef.’s Mot. for J. on Admin. RECF No. 107 (May 15, 2020) (“Def.’s
Mot.”); Mem. of Law in Supp. of Def.’s Mot., ECF No. a7 May 15, 2020) (“Def.’s Mem.”);
First Mot. for J. and Leave to File 41 Page MOL, ECF No. 108 (May 15, 202Q)Mstsfor J.,
ECF No. 109 (May 15, 202@)PIs.” Mot.”); Mot. for J. as a Matter of Law, ECF No. 110 (May
15, 2020).

On May 18, 2020, the Court grantednc pro tundlaintiffs leave to file a fortypne
page memorandum of law. Order, ECF No. 112 (May 18, 2020).

On the same day, Plaintiffs filed a second motion for leave to file a memoraridam
in excess of forty pageand attahed the m@orandum to this motiorPIs.” Second Mot. for J.
on the Admin. Rand Leave to Submit a For§even Page Mem. of Law, ECF No. 113 (May 18,
2020} PIs.” Mem. of Law in Supp. of PIs.” Mot., ECF No. 113May 18, 2020) (“PIs.” Mem.?)

They statedhat their formatting had changed, but otherwise there were no changes between this

12



and the earlier filed fortpne page memorandum of law supporting their motion for judgment on
the pleadingsd. at 1.

On May 19, 2020, the Court granted Plaintifscaxd motion for leave to file a
memorandum of law in excess of forty pages and further instructed Plaintiffs pooptrly
file thenewmemorandum on the docket. Order, ECF No. 114 (May 19, 2020).

On June 19, 202@he parties filed their respective reages to each other’'s motions for
judgment on the administrative record. Resp. to PIs.” Mot., ECF No. 117 (June 19, 2020)
(“Defs.” Resp.”);Pls.” Reply Mem. of Law, ECF No. 118 (June 19, 2020) (“Pls.” Resp.”).

On June 24, 2020, the Court granted in part Southington’s motion for clarification and
denied Plaintiffs’ motion for leave to file a reply memorandum of law in exafeten pages,

First Mot. for Clarification, ECF No. 119 (June 23, 2QZjst Mot. for Leave to File Reply
MOL in Excess of 10 Pages, ECF No. 120 (June 23, 2020). Order, ECF No. 121 (June 24, 2020).
The Court stated:

Although Southigton seeks to strike Plaintiff€18 response for

being in excess dhe tenpage limit for eply memoranda, the filing

is technically a response 8buthingtons 107 motion for judgment

on the administrative record. The {page limit for a reply

memorandum thus is inapplicable.

Nevertheles, more than half of PlaintiffSsubmission contains no

legal argument at all, but instead contains lengthy affidavits from

the Plaintiffs themselves, matters which, if relevant to the

administrative appeal, already should be contained in the

administrative recordsee Genn v. New Haven Bd. of Edhio. 12

cv-00704 (CSH), 2015 WL 1064766, at *3 (D. Conn. Mar. 11, 2015)

(“[t]he starting point for determining what additibnavidence

should be received . . is the record of theadministrative

proceeding” (quotind own of Burlington v. Dep't of Educ. of Mass.

736 F.2d 773, 790 (1st Cir. 1984)). In this case, because Plaintiffs
never sought to supplement the record with additional discovery,

7 Plaintiffs did not follow the Court’s instruction on how to file this second mandum on the docket.
Accordingly, Plaintiff's pending motion remains ECF No. 109, but the Court oite€F No. 113l for Plaintiffs’
arguments.

13



any evidence outside of the administrative record is likely improper.
See idat *4 (“The party seeking to supplement theorel bears the
burden of establishing that the additional evidence is probative of
the issues before the court, and must also explain why the evidence
was not preseatl at the administrative levelitations omitted));

see also Plainville Bd. of Educ. R.N, No. 3:09CV241 (RNC),
2009 WL 2059914, at *ID. Conn. July 10, 2009) The party
moving to submit additional evidence muesstablish that it is
relevant and necessary.”

Accordingly, consistent with this Court's inherent authority to
manage its docket to resolve cases efficiently and expediBiely,

v. Bouldin 136 S. Ct. 1885, 1892 (2016het Court will strike
Plaintiffs’ 118 response as nonresponsive Southingtons 107
motion for judgment on the administrative record and an improper
attempt to go beyond the administrative rec&eke Tucker v. Am.
Int'l Grp., Inc, 936 F. Supp. 2d 1, 15 (D. Conn. 2013)/(fether to
grant or deny a motion to strike is vested in tied tourt's sound
discretion.”(citing Hollander v. Am. Cyanamid Gol72 F.3d 192,
198 (2d Cir. 1999)Impulsive Music v. Pomodoro Grill, IncNo.
08-CV-6293, 2008 WL 4998474, at *2 (W.D.N.Y. Nov. 19, 2008))).

Plaintiffs shall submit a new response by JR8e2020. The Court
presumes that this refiling will be properly labeled as a response,
and not a reply; will only contain the proper arguments already
contained in th&08filing; and will not contain any new arguments.
The deadline for any replies remsaiJuly 7, 2020, and the Court is
not inclined to grant further extensions of time.

To the extent that any party seeks to exceed thpdga limit for
the July 7, 2020submissions, then any such filing shall be

accompanied by an explanation (and leggdport) for why any
additional pages are necessary.

On July 2, 2020, the Court granted Southington’s motion for clarification, Second Mot.
for Clarification, ECF No. 122 (July 1, 2020); and granted in part Plaintifésian for
reconsideration, First Mot. for Reconsideration of Court’s June 24, 2020 OrdeN&Q23
(July 1, 2020):

The Court will reinstate Plaintiffa€18filing, but Southington need
not respond to the Wong affidavits. On the ADA and Section 504

14



claims, the only issue appears to be whether the hearing officer
properly declined to review them. Southington must file a reply by
July 10, 2020.
Plaintiffs will not receive an extension of time to file a reply,
because they failed to file a timely response to the Court's June 24,
2020 order, ECF No. 121, despite the Court repeatedly warning the
parties that the delays in this case could not continue. See, e.g., ECF
No. 88 (Mar. 23, 2020) (granting Plaintiffs an extension of time until
May 1, 2020, but not June 3, 2020, to file dispositive motions); ECF
No. 104 at 7 (Apr. 27, 2020) ("The Court also notes it is not inclined
to grant further extensions of time."); ECF No. 116 (May 20,
2020)("The Court is not inclined to grant further extensions of
time."); ECF No. 121 (June 24, 2020) ("The Gasimot inclined to
grant further extensions of time.").
Order, ECF No. 124 (July 2, 2020).
On July 10, 2020, Southington replied. Reply to Pls.” Resp., ECF No. 125 (July 10, 2020)
(“Def.’s Reply™).
On August 4, 2020, the Court held a hearing by \ddaterenceon the pending motions.
Minute Entry, ECF No127 (Aug. 4, 2020).
Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW
Under the IDEA, “Congress provides federal funds to those states that develop plans to
assure ‘all children with disabilities the right to a feggropriate public educatioih \Walczakv.
Fla. UnionFree Sch.Dist., 142 F.3d 119, 122 (2d Cir. 1998) (quot@U.S.C. § 1412()A
FAPE “must include special education and related services tailored to maatghe needs of a
particular child, andbe reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational
benefits.”ld. (internal quotation marks and citations omittéf#)] child remains eligible for a
free appropriate education under IDEA until his 22nd birthdaylfask ex rel. Mauclaire v.

State of Conn. Dep’t of EAU&97 F3d 77, 86 n.4 (2d Cir. 200Fut, “[u]nder Connecticut law,

an individual with a disability is entitled to receive special education until he dsgraduated
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from high school or reaches agesnhty-one,whicheveroccursfirst.”” A.R.v. Conn. Stat®d. of
Educ, No. 3:16CV-01197 (CSH), 2020 WL 3086032, at *4 (D. Conn. June 10, 2@aphasis
omitted)(quoting Conn. Gen. Stat. §-T®d(b)).

Summary judgment in the IDEA context “involves more than looking into disputed issues
of fact; rather, it is a pragmatic procedural mechanism for reviewing adrativist
decisions.”A.C.exrel. M.C. v. Bd. of Educ. oTheChappaquaC. Sch.Dist., 553 F.3d 165, 171
(2d Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). The IDEA left the “primaspansibility for
formulating the education to be accorded a handicapped child, and for choosing the educational
method most suitable to the child’s needs,to.state and local educational agenares
cooperation with the parents or guardian of the chidl"of Educ. ofHendrickHudsonC. Sch.

Dist. v. Rowley 458 U.S. 176, 207 (1982). Consequentthe role of the federal courts in
reviewing state educational decisions under the IDEA is circulbestrand they must give “due
weight” to the administrative proceeding bel@agliardov. Arlington C. Sch.Dist., 489 F.3d

105, 112113 (2d Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). So, while a federal
court “must engage in an indepentiesview of the administrative record and make a
determination based on a preponderance of the evidence,” it must also be “mindful that the
judiciary generally lacks the specialized knowledge and experience necessary t® resolv
persistent and difficult questions of educational politg.’at 112-13 (internal quotation marks,
citations, and alterations omitted).

“The standard of review requires a more critical appraisal of the agency detesminati
than cleaterror review but nevertheless falls well shdrcompletede novaeview.” C.F. exrel.
R.F.v.N.Y.C Dept of Educ, 746 F.3d 68, 77 (2d Cir. 2014) (internal quotation marks and

citation omitted). “The deference owed depends on both the quality of the opinion and the
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court’s institutional competencdd. Deference to the decision reached in the administrative
proceeding is particularly warranted where, as here, the Court’s decisioedsdn#g on the
administrative recordsagliardo, 489 F.3d at 113.

“The party appealing [a Hearing Officer's] detenation bears the burden of proof in
establishing that the [Hearing Officer’s] decision is not entitled to eietex”J.C.exrel. C.C.v.
N.Y.C.Dep t of Educ, 2015 WL 1499389, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2014¥,d subnom.J.C.
v.N.Y.C. Dept of Educ, 643F. App'x 31 (2d Cir. 2016junpublished)see alsdMr. & Mrs. G.
asNextFriends ofS.G.v. Canton Bd. of EducNo. 3:17CV-2161 (MPS), 2019 WL 1118094, at
*7 (D. Conn. Mar. 11, 2019ame) (citations omitted)However, with respect to ntizrs of
statutory interpretation, the Court reviews the administrative dedsiorovo’ Doe v. Westport
Bd. of Educ.No. 3:18CV-01683 (KAD), 2020 WL 869861, at *2 (D. Conn. Feb. 21, 2020)
(citing Muller on Behalf of Muller v. Comm. on Special Educ. of E. Islip Union Free Sch. Dist
145 F.3d 95, 102 (2d Cir. 1998)).

[I. DISCUSSION
A. Plaintiffs’ Standing to Continue this Appeal

As an initial matter, the Court addresses the issue of whether Plaintiffisomigryue with
this lawsuit, becausestudenturned eighteein January 202@juring the pendency of this
administrative appeal

Southington asserts thatto evidence has been submitted to the Court that the Student
delegated to his Parents all the legal rights under the IDEA that were tratigédrim upon
turning eighteen years of age.” Def.’s Mem. at 5

Plaintiffs claim that a “Power of Attorney form signed by [Student] was provimled t

[Southington’s] counsel authorizing [his] parents as his agents[] to continue witppexl after
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reaching the age of majority.” $2|Mem. at 5.

The IDEA“provides that state may allow for the transfer of all parental IDEA rights to
the child ‘when a child with a disability reaches the age of majority under State lxve, 2020
WL 869861, at *2 (quoting 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1415(m)(Ohnnecticut’s transfer provision states:
“[wlhena child with a disability reaches the age of eighteen, (1)ahed shall provide any
notices required by the IDEA . tosuch child and the parents of such child, and ()thér
rights accorded to the parents of such child under the IDE#&hall transfer to such child.”
Conn. Agencies Regs. §-T®d-12(b).Here,Plaintiffs havesubmitteda power of attorney form
signed by Studentvhichallows Plaintiffs to act as his agent in all “[c]laims and litigation.”
Statutory Power of Attorneghort Form, ECF No. 118 4i—42(Jan. 16, 20205.

Accordingly, the Court will allowPlaintiffsto continuewith this appeal.

B. The Relevant Time Period

Under the IDEA, a party may only prese complaint “which sets forth an alleged
violation that occurred not more than 2 years before the date the parent or public agency knew or
should have known about the alleged action that forms the basis of the complaint[.]” 208J.S.C
1415(b)(6)(B).

Sauthington contests “the Plaintiffs’ right to prosecute IDEA claims for viafstithat
allegedly occurred before May 10, 2014,” Def.’s Mem. at 6, because Plaintiffs tkakw
before May 10, 2014 that the Defendant had not conducted the evaluations or provided visual
therapy services that they claimed were required . . . [and] that the Studectsi@nal program
did not include specific accommodations they believed he neededt’8.

The Court agrees.

8 The Court notes that the power of attorney form is difficult to read, so it carai@t out the entirety of the text.
Because Southington has not objected to this form, however, the Court will &ccept i
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Hearing Officer Jermalimited her consideration of Plaintiffs’ claims to exclude claims
predating May 10, 2014&eeFinal Decision at 21 (“Due to the statute of limitations, the scope of
this issue is limited to the short time from May 10, 2014 to the end of the school yaaein
2014.").To the extent that Plaintiffs seek to appeal the Hearing Officer’s deatsiwot tonsider
their claims predating May0] 2014? the Courtagrees with the Hearing Officeé3ee Mr. P v. W.
Hartford Bd. of Edug.885 F.3d 735, 747 n.7 (2d Cir. 201&yt. denied139 S. Ct. 322 (2018),
("Hearing is limited to complaints about actions that the complainant knew of oddteté
known of within two years of the date that the hearing is requested.” (citing 20.8.S.C
1415(f)(3)(C) and Conn. Ageies Regs. XHd6h4)).

Accordingly, the Court will only consider Plaintiffs’ claims beginning May 10, 2014,
which are the same claims considered by the Hearing Officer.

C. Procedural Compliance

The IDEA “provides a variety of procedural safeguards for the parents of disabled
children.”Mr. P, 885 F.3d at 741 (citinbillbask, 397 F.3d at 8482). “A procedural violation of
the IDEA entitles a plaintiff to relief only if it:(I) impeded the child'right to a [FAPE]; (I1)
significantly impeded the parehigpportunity to participate in the decisionmaking process
regarding the provision of a [FAPE] to the paréntsld; or (IIl) caused a deprivation of
educational benefits. Id. at 748 (quotin?0U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(i}) (citing A.M. v. N.Y.C.
Dep'’t of Educ, 845 F.3d 523, 535 (2d Cir. 20}7)

“That is, parents must articulate how a procedural violation resulted in the IEP

® The Court also notes that Plaintiffs have not bdefe issue, which by itself is a basis for not considering
allegations before May 10, 2018ee, e.g. Froio v. Monré&/oodbury Central Sch. DistNo. 1#CV-604 (CS),

2020 WL 2731970, at (S.D.N.Y. May 26, 2020) (finding “[t]his type of undeveloped argument [abADA and
Section 504 claims] unacceptable where a plaintiff is represented byetdans noting the court “would be on
firm ground were [it] to find this cause of action abandoned based solely on tine faiadequately brief the issue”
(citing Norton v. Sam’s Clul45 F.3d 114, 117 (2d Cir. 1998)).
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substantive inadequacy or affected the decisiaking process."M.W.exrel. S.W.v. N.Y.C.
Dep’t of Educ.,725 F.3d1L31, 1392d Cir. 2013) However, “[m]ultiple proceda violations
may cumulatively result in the denial of a FAPE even if the violations considered indliyidioia
not.” R.E.v. N.Y.C.Dep't of Educ, 694 F.3d 167, 190 (2d Cir. 2012).

Plaintiffs argue that Southington committed the following procedural violations:
Southington denied parental participation in one or more PPT meetings; Southington
“preplanned everything before the PPT meetings” and Plaihtikése not allowed to prepate[
for the PPT meeting”; IEPs were not developed during the PPT meetings; recdations
were not incorporated into the IEPs; Plaintiffs “were not allowed to speak dharigPT
meetings or ask questions.” Pls.” Mem. atBlintiffs assert that “[n]ot including [them] in all
decision making deprived them of the meaningful opportunity to participate in the development
of an IEP.”Id. (citations omitted). Specifically, they argue that excluding them from the l§Janua
15, 2015 PPT meeting “was not harmlesgse’ Id. (citation omitted).

Southingtorasserts that Plaintiffs “ignore[] their own testimonial statements regarding
participationin the IEP process, such as: asking for new technology devices, which were then
added ¢ the Student’s IEP . consenting to proposed evaluations . . . andglmghagendas and
statements to PPTs.” Def.’s Resp. at 4. Furthernwathington argues that the record shows
extensive evidence that “Student’s parents were actively involved in the IEP degstopm
process.’ld. Southington contends that Plaintiffs have failed to cite to the administratoedr
or the IDEA to support their claim that Southington committed a procedural elattithe
IDEA. Id. at 5-6. Furthermore, Southington argues that it considered all Student’s needs and

implemented recommendations by external and school professions. Def.'s Meril&t 13
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In Plaintiffs’ view, they*have satisfied the first prong of tfowleytwo-part test with
respect to whether the Defendants’ have complied wittAIBBrocedural equirements.” PIs.’
Resp. at 7.

The Court disagrees.

To ensure parental participation, the IDEA requires

[a]n opportunity for the parents of a child with a disability to
examine all records relating to such child and to participate in
meeings with respect to the identification, evaluation, and
educational placement of the child, and the provision of a free
appropriate public education to such child, and to obtain an
independent evaluation of the child.
Cerra v. Pawling Cent. Sclist., 427 F.3d 186, 192 (2d Cir. 2005) (quotid@ U.S.C. §
1415(b)(1)) The regulations governing parental participation provide that “[e]ach public agency
shall take steps to ensure that one or both of the parents of a child with a disabpitysanh
ateach IEP meeting or are afforded the opportunity to participate[.]” 34 C.F.R.34304).
The regulations go on to state that “[t]he public agency shall give the parent a copyhalitee ¢
IEP at no cost to the parent.” 34 C.F.R. 8§ 300.345(f).

Paents possess an unquestionable right to notice and an opportunity to attend and
participate in “meetings with respect to the identification, evaluation and echatgilacement
of the child, and the provision of a free appropriate public education to such Catda 427
F.3d at 192 (quoting 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(1)). Parental “participation means something more
than mere presence; it means being afforded the opportunity to be an equal collabbos®r, w
views are entitled to as much consideration aadji as those of other members of the team in
the formulation and evaluation of their child's educati®.A. v.Pascarella 153 F. Supp. 2d

144, 154D. Conn. 2001)quotingV.W.v. Favolise 131 F.R.D. 654, 659 (D. Conn. 1990)).

In this case, the Hearing Officeyund that Plaintiffs attended several PPT meetings
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during the relevant period, including on certain dates “at the request of PaFamas Decision
at 14 Y 26Parents attended the following PPT meetings: January 30'%&idal Decsion at
13 1M1 1419 (noting that the PPT meeting lasted three and a half h&@esember 25, 2014t
Parents’ requegtid. at 23 March 27, 2015jd. at 161 3540 (noting that that facilitated PPT
meeting, wherein Parents were represented lattamey, lasted three hourandAugust 20,
2015 id. 11 46409.

Although Parents were not able to attend the PPT meeting on January 1r2015
Student’s annual reviewhat failure is not due to Southington preventing their attendatice
Hearing Offcer found thaPlaintiffs notified Southington thagamemorning they could not
attend due to schedule conflictd. at 15 § 33. eHearingOfficer alsofound thatSouthington
“made attempts to reschedtlg., as indicated by the March 27, 2015 facilitated R8Tat 16
1 35.

“The IDEA does not require the parents’ presence at [PPT] meetings; ratbguiies
only that the school boards give parents the opportunity to participate in the decision about the
child’s educational placementDervishi v. Stamford Bd. of Edué53 F. App’x 5557 (2d Cir.
2016)(summary orderjciting Cerra, 427 F.3d at 193). Here, as described abdwetecord
shows that Southington gave Plaintiffs “ample opportunigotparticipaté on numerous
occasionsid., including at least one facilitated PPT where Plaintifése represented by an
attorney.See, e.gDoe v. East Lyme Bd. of Edu@90F.3d 440, 449 (2d Cir. 2015) (finding no
procedural violation where parent “fully participated in the June 17, 2009 meeting BPIRE [

at which the 2002010 placement was discussedge also F.L. v. Bd. of Edudf. GreatNeck

10 Although this occurred before May 10, 2014, the IEP established at this PRignagg@lied at the beginning of
the relevant time perio&eeFinal Decision at 23 (“Student’s January 30, 2014 IEP did not stop at the eld of th
school year but was designedaddress his needs for the remainder of sixth grade and the beginning of seventh
grade.”).
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Union Free Sch. Dist735 F. App’x 38, 40 (2d Ci2018)(summary order{“There is no basis
to find that the District engaged in the kind of ‘persistent refusal’ to discussttte’s concerns
such that the refusal could constitute a ‘procedural denial of a FARElisagreements do not
constitute a procedural denial of a student’s FARgting T.K. v. N.Y.C. Dep’t of Edu@10
F.3d 869, 877 (2d Cir. 2016)))

Accordingly, because Southington fulfilled its duty to ensure Plaiqéfsicipated in the
PPTs, the Coumvill grant judgment as a matter of law to Southingborthis issue

D. Whether StudentReceivedFAPE

The Second Circuit “has emphasized that the substantive adequacy of an IEBad foc
on whether an IEP was ‘reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive edubahefitd’
and ‘likely to produce progress, not regressioNt. P, 885 F.3d at 757 (quoting.M., 845 F.3d
at 541) see also EndreWw. ex rel. Joseph F. v. Douglas Cty. Sch. DE37 S. Ct. 988, 1001
(2017) (The IDEA *“requires an educational program reasonably calculated to echliteta
make progress appropriate in light of the child’s circumstaicégVhile the'IDEA does no
itself articulate any specific level of educational benefits that must bedpbthrough an IEP,
‘the door of public education must be opened for a disabled child in a meaningful way. This is
not done if an IEP affords the opportunity for only trivadivancemerit. 1d. (internal quotation
marks and citations omitte{quotingWalczak 142 F.3dat 130).

In addition to procedural claims, Plaintiffs assert that Southington’s progreymas
insufficient, and thus substantively violated the IDEA. The Court addresdesfaalaintiff's

allegations belovby academic year.
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i. 2013-2014

Plaintiffs argue that Se¢hington did not incorporate all the recommendations from
outside evaluators into Student’s |IEPaddress “areas of need” in “occupational therapy, vision
therapy, additional direct academic instruction” and more. Pls.” Mem—84d3Burther, they
asserthat Southington “did not provide any IEP progress reports for consideration by the
Hearing Officer for 2012014 school year after May 10, 201’ at 34.

Southingtorargues the “IEP included individualized specialized instruction, related
services fra an occupational therapist, significant accommodations for reading, written
expression and work completion, supported study, consultation among the Student’s providers,
and classroom accommodations that ensured he could receive educational bené§tiV&raf.
at 21.Southington emphasizes that the sixth grade IEP was also based on “multiple evaluations,
including three additional evaluations requested by the Plajrtiifsicular based assessments
and classroom performanteéd. (citations to record ortted). Southington further asserts that
the June 17, 2014 IEP progress report, which covered the contested tirdegetiovas a basis
for the Hearing Officer’s decision. Def.’s Resp. at 8.

The Hearing Officer found that “Student’s IEP for the period May 14, 2014 to the end of
his sixthgrade year included appropriate recommendations and accommodations tailed to [his]
needs and was implemented in an inclusion setting.” Final Decision at 22.

The Court agrees.

The record supports the finding that the IEP wasvidually tailored to Student and
reasonably tailored to allow him to progress. Plaintiffs have pointed to no evidenSéutent
was regressing, and his grades at the end of sixth grade “ranged from B+ to A+Ddeisabn

at 23.“Grades are anrportant indication’ of progressir. & Mrs. G, 2019 WL 1118094at
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*15 (quotingMr. P., 885 F.3d at 758). The Second Circuit haspressly held that when a
learningdisabled child is in a mainstream class, ‘the attainment of passing gradegwdad re
advancement from grade to grade’ will generally constitute evidence of satigfaaigress.”
Cerra, 427 F.3d at 196 (quotingalcz&, 142 F.3d at 130).

Furthermorecontradicting Plaintiffs’ allegations herde record indicates thdte PPT’s
denial of vision and occupational therapy was \gafpported. In fact, despite support frttme
Federal Register definition of Visual Impaient and . . . the BESB Consultant’s report and
recommendationsthe IEP nevertheless “provided services and accommodations to meet his
vision needs, including assistive technology and [occupational therapy] servicesDé&arsbn
at 13 see alsdccugtional Therapy Evaluation, ECF No.-92at 32 (May 30, 2013) (“Based
on the results of the above evaluation and [Student]'s demonstration of skills within his
classroom, he does not qualify for direct Occupational Therapy servicestah&éi$. The
Heaing Officer specifically found that the PPT took Student’s “[o]ptometriggsort into
consideration.” Final Decision at 182e also id(*“The BESB Consultant told Special Education
Coordinator 1 that Student was not Visudthpaired.”).

The Hearing Officer’s decision regarding substantive adequacy is entitled tendefer
and weltsupported by the record.

Accordingly, the Court finds that a preponderance okthéencandicates that
Student’s sixtlgrade IEP was reasonably calculategtoduce progress in light of his
circumstanceand thugs substantively adequatéhe Student received FAPE for the 20134

school year.
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ii. 2014-2015

Plaintiffs arguethat Southington “did not provide any IEP progress reports for
consideration by the Haag Officer . . . for the 20145 schoolyear ater November 7, 2014
Pls.” Mem. at 34In their view, the Hearing Officer improperly concluded Student received
FAPE “without the benefit of written IEP progress reportd.’at 35.

Southington emphass the specific strategies in Student’s IEP to addresddmsfied
needsand that Student made “significant progress,” so much so that “the neuropsychologist
concluded he no longer met the criteria for a learning disorder in"nia¢h’s Mem. at 2324
In fact, Southington notes that while in seventh grade, Student “scored at theghasthool
level on the vocabulary and comprehension elements of one reading evaluation, and well above
average on a second reading evaluationjand] achieved muchigher scores on the migar
math evaluation than he achieved on the fall evaluatidnat 25.Southingtoralsopoints to
four IEP progress reports in the record that demonstrate how “Student benefitietidr
specialized instruction, related services and school accommodations.” Cefgsdr 8.

The Hearing Officefound that “[d]uring the 20345 school year, Student’s IEPs
included appropriate recommendati@msl accommodations tailored to Student’s needs and
were implement in an inclusion setyi.” Final Decision at 25.

The Court agrees.

The record supports the finding that the IEP was individually tailored to Student and
reasonably tailored to allow him to progress. Again, Plaintiffs have pointed to no@vitiat
Student was regressing, and his grades at the end of seventh grade fi@mge to A+,” even
with enrollment in a more rigorous math curriculum than regular seventh gradeFmath

Decision at 25. The record also shows Student’s progress in terms of standastiizgd te
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CompareConn. State Dep’t of Educ. Test Results, B@F 906 at 9 Spring 2015) (indicating
Student’'sseventhgrade scores in literacy and mathematics were both at “Level 4: Exceeds”
expected achievement levelhile the school and district average were ladtthe lower end of
“Level 3: Meets”expected achievement levelith Conn.Mastery Test Student Report, ECF
No. 925 at35 (March 2013) (indicating that while Student’s fifth grade scoresathematics,
science, reading, and writing met the goal ranges, none were in the advanced range).

As to Plainiffs’ allegations that Southington did not provide written progress reports for
the Hearing Officer’s consideration after November 7, 2014, the Court notes thetdre r
includes the following progress reports: Progress Report for IEP Goals andv@bj26tl 3-
2014, ECF No. 922 at 26 (June 17, 2014) (indicatingostly satisfactory progmss); Progress
Report for IEPGoals and Objective®014-205, ECF No. 9212 at 711 (Nov. 7, 2014)
(indicating mostly satisfactory progresB)ypgress Report for IEP Goals and Objectives 2014
2015, ECF No. 966 at39-41(Feb. 13, 2015) (indicating satisfactory prograsd
“[m]astered)); Progress Report for IEP Goals and Objectives 2%, ECF No. 966 at 2-8,
12-17(Apr. 28, 2015 (indicating mostlysatisfactory progresslue to “new goals and objectives
[] just developed in April 2015

The Hearing Officer’s decision regarding substantive adequacy is entitled tendefer
and weltsupported by the record.

Accordingly, the Court finds that a preponderance of the evidadmates that
Student’s seveh-grade IEP was reasonably calculategroduce progress in light of his
circumstances and is thus substantively adequiaeStudent received FAPE for the 20145

school year
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ii. 2015-2016

Plaintiffs argue that the “adverse rulings against [them] for the-2615 . school year(]
[was] bagd primarily upon the Hearing Officer’'s assessment of the Defendants’ weghess
credibility when presenting their case in chief.” Pls.” Mem. aff8&ey asserthat“there was
insufficient substantial evidence on the record to support the Hearing Officecckision that
FAPE was provided throughout the school years at istdie.”

Southington argues that the 202616IEP “included similar supports and services” as
before, and were “based on the Student’s present levels of performance and includsed updat
goals and objectives and classroom accommodations reflective of the 2015 neuropsychological
evaluation report.Def.’s Mem. at 2829.Southington also asserts tlecause Plaintiffs
indicated at the August 20, 2015 PPT meeting that they had alreadgdieziunilaterally place
Student at Southington Catholic, Plaintiffs “offer[] no legitimate argumentlilegtconsidered
the August 2015, IEP revisions.” Def.’s Reply a5

The Hearing Ofter firstdeterminedhat the “[t|he only concern Parents raise the
[August 20, 2015] PPT meeting was to request vision therapy” before reading a prepared
statemenindicating their intent to unilaterallyiace Student. Final Decision at 26. The Hearing
Officer then concluded that the “proposed 2AB5EP includd appropriate recommendations
and accommodatiortailored to Student’'s needs and were proposed to be implemented in an
inclusion setting.’ld.

The Court agrees.

As Plaintiffs conceddahe “assessment of a witness’ credibility is within pnevince of
the Hearing Officer,” Pls.” Mem. at 35, and they have raised no other speciflonentgpuas to

why the Hearing Officer’s decision was unsupported by the evidence.
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To the extent that Plaiifits arguethatthe denial of vision therapy equated to a
substantive denial & FAPE, the Court notes that they “provided no medical records or
diagnosis indicating that Student met the definition of Visual Impairment.” Bieaikion at 25.
Consequentlyby failing to demonstrate record evidence that Student had a visual impairment
requiring specific accommodations not already offered, Plaintiffs have not nidiuhden to
demonstrate that the Hearing Officer erred in finding Southington provided &. S&E Bryant
v. N.Y. State Educ. Dep@92 F.3d 202, 215 (2d Cir. 2012The IDEA ‘guarantees’ only that
students with disabilities are providad ‘appropriate education, not one that provides
everything that might be thought desirable by loving par&r(internal quotation marks
omitted)(quotingWalczak 142 F.3d at 132)).

The Hearing Officer’s decision regarding substantive adequacy is entitled tendefer
and weltsupported by the record.

Accordingly, the Court finds that a preponderance okthdence indicates that
Student’s proposed eightrade IEP was reasonably calculated to produce progress in light of
his circumstances and is thus substantively adeqUiagsStudent received FAPE for the2015-
16 school year

iv. 2016-2017

Plaintiffs repeathe same arguments from earlier school yeard take issue with the
Hearing Officer’s credibility assessments of Southington’s witnestesMem. at 35Plaintiffs
also assertwithoutspecifyingwhich school year, that Southington “ha[s] ddferentiated
between the numerous evaluation private reports provided by the Plaintiffs’ fsieyiew
during PPT meetings that supported the need for increased services, including vismn #sera

recommended by [certain doctors], presented during PPT meetings and Defentigsatisofe
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those requests for additional supports, services, and/or vision therapy.” Pts.aR@$.

Southington argues in detail how the proposed 20 IEP addressed Student’s needs,
Def.’s Mem. at32-34, and notes thdno witnesses for the Plaintiffs identified a specific
problem in the IEP other than the parents’ concerns about the lack of visual thevay®s send
no visual impairment label, which the Hearing Officer determined was notedduirthe
Student taeceive a FAPE.Id. at 33.

The Hearing Officer found that the proposed@@017 IEP “addresse[d] Student’'s
visual and executive functioning needs,” Final Decision at 27, and that “Student continues to
progress which is evident by his scored,"at 28.The Hearing Officer @ncluded that
Southington “offered Student FAPE for the 2a6school year.Id.

The Court agrees.

As to Plaintiffs’argument that Southington did not “differentiate” between the various
evaluations, the Court findslack ofrecordsupport fortheir claims.The Hearing Officer made
specific findings regarding evaluation reports submitted by an independent psychologist in May
2013, Final Decision at 128} Student’s optometrigh July 2013id. at 12  11anda
neuropsychologist ollay 4, 2015,d. at 16 1 42. The Hearing Officer also found that the PPT
considered and incorporated these repahide developing Student’s IEP through the ye8es,
e.g,id. at17 11 46- 47 (finding that the August 20, 2015 PPT incorporated the results of the
neuropsychological evaluatiorBlainly, there is no objective evidence in the record that supports
Plaintiffs’ contentionsSee Gagliardp489 F.3d at 113 (noting that “in order for the district court
to conduct an ‘independent’ review of the sufficiency of an IEP under the IDEA that does not
‘impermissibly meddl[e] in state educational methodology,’ it must examine thedreco

‘objective evidence’ that indicates ‘whether the child is likely to make pregreegress uter
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the proposed plan.” (internal citations omitted)).

To the extent Plaintiffs raise the same arguments as before, the Courtalisimess for
the same reasons as before, namely, that the regppirts a finding that Student was making
meaningful progress with the supports from his IEP.

The Hearing Officer’s decision regarding substantive adequacy is entitled tendefer
and wellsupported by the record.

Accordingly, the Court finds that a preponderance of the evidence indicates that
Student’s propa=d ninthgrade IEP was reasonably calculated to produce progress in light of his
circumstances and is thus substantively adequate. Student rexE&BE& for the2016-17
school year, as he did for all four school years at issue.

E. Entitlement to Reimbursement for Unilateral Placement and Balance of
Equities

Plaintiffs assert: “If the Court finds that the school district's IEP hagdea student
FAPE, then the Court can ascertain whether or not the private school selected bgriteedaa
meet the student’s needs.” Pls.” Resp. aPlaintiffs seek reimlnsement of their “costs
incurred for the Southington Catholic School based upon the existing administrativk’recar
remand “for a hearing on the issue of whether or not the [unilateral placememippvapriate
for Student’s needsPIs.” Mem. at38.

Southington argues that “even if there were a need to address the parochial school
placement, the record shows the Plaintiffs are not entitled to tuition reimbutseacause the
school was not appropriate to his needs.” Ba¥lem. at 2930. Southington asserts that
“Plaintiffs presented no evidence to support their claim that purported sgetleral education
classes at the parochial school and the reported attitude and leadership of the school’s

administrators benefitted the Student,” dat they “present any evidence the parochial school
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program offered the Student services and accommodations to address his individualaheeds.”
at 30.Furthermore, Southington notes “Plaintiffs failed to present any evidence the school
provided the indiidual visual therapy services they claim the Student needed at Defendant’s
middle school.ld.

Hearing Officer Jerman found that it was “not necessary to determine whettentSs
unilateral private placement was appropriate,” because Southington provided hipEa FA
through the four relevant academic years. Final Decision &i&&equently, she also found that
“Parents are not entitled to reimbursement for the cost of the unilateral piaeg¢enent,” and
“no remedy is due.ld.

The Court agrees.

‘[ Rleimbursement is available where . . . the agency failed to make a free public
education available to the childzrank G. v. Bd. of Educ. of Hyde Pad&9 F.3d 356, 370 (2d
Cir. 2006) “A unilateral private placement isily appropriate if it providesducation
instructionspecificallydesigned to meet theniqueneeds of a handicapped childGagliardg,

489 F.3dat 115 (2d Cir. 2007§emphasis omittedguotingFrank G., 459 F.3d at 365 see also
N.B. v. N.Y.C. Dep’t of EdycZ11 F. App’'x29, 3234 (2d Cir. 2017) (summary order) (holding
that parents of a child diagnosed with autism were not entitled to reimbursemienthe IDEA
for tuition at a private school that specialized in educating students with aigesmgtso
Gagliardo 489 F.3d at 114 (finding that the district court’s grounds for disturbing the hearing
officer’s “reasoned conclusion [as to whether the unilateral placement was réqpijaoe not
supported by the record'ln light of the Court’s decision that Southington provided Student
with a FAPE, the Court need not address Plaintiffs’ claim for tuition reirelmest, nor does it

need to address whether the balance of equities
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Accordingly, the Court will affirm the Hearing Officer’s decision tmaward tuition
reimbusement.

F. ADA and Section 504 Claims

“Becausdhe ADA and Section 504 impose ‘nearly identical’ requirements, courts
‘consider the merits of these claims togethd.C.v. Mount VernorCity Sch.Dist,, No. 11 CV
1411 VB, 2014 WL 4468082, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 28, 20:4)d subnom.B.C.v. Mount
Vernon SchDist., 837 F.3d 152 (2d Cir. 2016), aatf’d subnom.B.C.v. Mount Vernorch.
Dist., 660 F. App'x 93 (2d Cir. 2016)quotingDisabledin Actionv. N.Y.C.Bd. ofElections,752
F.3d 189,196 (2d Cir.2014)). “The sameburdenshifting framework for Title VII cases applies
to retaliation cases under Section 504 and the Al%&fin v. New Haven Bd. of EQu219 F.
Supp. 3d 296322(D. Conn. Nov. 30, 201Qxiting Treglia v. Town oManlius 313 F.3d 713,
719 (2d Cir. 2002)).

In addition to their IDEA claims, Plaintiffs also challenge the Hearing OfBagismissal
of their Section 504 and ADA claims for lack of jurisdiction, and assert that &gtdahi
discriminated andetaliatedagainst Studerdased on his disability, race, and national origin, and
against Plaintiffs’ advocacy for their sdPls.” Mem. at 3946. Specifically, Plaintiffs akkge that
Plaintiffs, as parents of Student, who has a disability, “associated with hieshavchted for
rights secured by the IDEA and other laws to ensure that his IDEA special educatisneee
addressed bjSouthington]” Id. at 39.

Because Plaintiffs “engaged in the protected activity of conveying their concerns for
enhancing [Student]'sducaiton,” they contend “they should be protected from retaliation and
reprisal by [Southingtords set forth in their September 28,[]2015 lettetfd]’at 40.As

examplas of retaliation,Plaintiffs assert that Southingtdmited their effortsto communicate
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with school stafto only PPT meetingsnd took adverse action against their son by “removing
him from the National Honor Society following their zealous advocacy to conteseanbec
5,[]2014 incident whereby he was disciplined . . . and suspenide@t’40, 44 Plaintiffs assert
that Student was “cleared by the IT analyst of any wrongdoldgdt 45.In addition to the
previously delineated allegations related to the deniaF#RE, they also allege that
Southington failed to reimburse them for “door to door transportation and tuitiori eosts,
failed to provide reasonable accommodations to Stutteat.40-41.

In their view, these “claims are pendiagd involve contestedsues of fact that cannot
be summarily resolved through the Motion for Judgment on the Administrative Relcbiat.”
42.Because the Hearing Officer “never adjudicated” these claims, Plaintiffs seek a “separate
Scheduling Order” for the Court to “permit discovery on these outstanding clamat”46.

Southington respondbatPlaintiffs’ “Section 504/ADA[d]iscrimination [c]laims are
[b]aseless” becaugdaintiffs “failed to proveduring the hearinthat their and/or the Student’'s
purported exclusion @m participation in the Defendant’s services, programs or activities was
the result of the Defendant’s intentional discriminatiddef.’s Mem. at 3435. Southington
asserts that “Plaintiffs have failed to demonstf@tuthingtorn ‘was, at the minimum,
ddiberately indifferent to a strong likelihood that [Student’s] federal rights avbalviolated”

Id. at 35 (citation omitted)Southington argues that the “preponderant evidence [] proves the
Student’dEPs. . . included many reasonable accommodatiddsat 36.

As for Plaintiffs’ retaliation claims, Southington argues that those claimsalso f
because it “did not take adverse action againdPkaitiffs or the Student, and there is no causal
link between any of [Southington’s] actions and [Plaintiffs’ladvocald.at 37 Even if

Plaintiffs could establish a prima facie retaliation claim, Southington arguas “thed
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legitimatenondiscriminatory reasons for its action&d’

The Court agrees.

Under Connecticut law, an IDEA Hearing Officer’s jurisdiction is limited to ADE
claims.See generallonn. Gen. Stat. 8 106h(d) (describing the “hearing officer or board[’s]”
authority).IDEA hearing officersnay only consider Section 504/ADA issues “provided that a
determination of the issue is necessary to ensure that the substantive and progathucdlthe
particular child or parent or guardian who initiated due process are being comphédog,
2020 WL 869861, at *6 (internal citation and quotation marks omittedhis case,ite Court
previously held that “[o]n the ADA and Section 504 claims, the only issue appears totherwhe
the hearing officer properly declined to review them.” Order, ECF No. 124%J@020).The
Court also held that “because Plaintiffs never sought to supplement the record witmaddi
discovery, any evidence outside of the administrative record is likely impr@petet, ECF No.
121 (June 24, 2020kee alsdruling on Mot. to Amend the Comglt 6(“Given thelong delays
in the prosecution of this case and its impact on the case’s ultimate resol@iGouittt will not
grant Plaintiffs leave to amend their Complaint at this fime

As a resultto the extent that Plaintiffs challenge the Hea@ificer’'s dismissal of their
ADA/Section 504 claims, the Court dismisses that claim and affirms the Hearingr@ff
decision to do sdBecause Plaintiffs have exhaustbdir IDEA administrative remediedhe
Courtalsowill address theneritsof their ADA/Section 504 claims.

Here, although Plaintiffs claiferé! “[tjhere is no administrative record for the Court to

review” regarding their ADA and Section 504 claims, Pls.” Mem. at 42, the Godstthathe

1 The Court notes that in a later filing, Plaintiffs claim that the administrative recamin®tsufficient factual
information” for the Court to find there was enough information to establish Hiatifs’ rights under the ADA
and Section 504 were violated. Pls.” Mem. of Law in Supp. of Their Mot. for Reeoaton, ECF No. 123 at 6
(July 1, 2020).
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record refutes their claims, whiele aotheriterationof their IDEA claims asserting that
Southington denied Student a FAFEee, e.gC.L.v. Scarsdale Unioirree Sch.Dist., No. 10
CV-4315(CS)2012 WL 983371, at *16 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 201@y'd on other grounds/44
F.3d 826, (finding that ‘tats core, Plaintiffs’ Rehabilitation Act claims is simply a repackaging
of their IDEA claint).

And here, the Court has already fouhdtthe record supports the Hearing Officer’s
decision that Southington complied with the IDEA both procedurally arstantively.SeeB.C.
v. Mount Vernon Sch. DisB837 F.3d 152161(2d Cir. 2016) (“Those seeking relief pursuant to
ADA or Section 504 must come forward with ‘additional evidereleéyond simply their
eligibility for IDEA coverage—showing their eligibility for the remedies afforded by the ADA
and Section 504.” (quotingadriguezv. Vill. Green Realty, Inc788 F.3d 31, 45 (2d Cir. 2015)).

To establish a claim under the ADA or Section 504, a plaintiff must prove, among other
things, “he was denied the opportunity to participate in or benefit from the defersgantes,
programs, or activities, or was otherwise discriminated against by the deféedause of his
disability.” McElweev. Cnty.of Orange,700 F.3d 635, 640 (2d Cir.201B)laintiffs mustshow
thatthey were “otherwise discriminated against” onltlasis of disability under one tfree
theories: disparate treatment, disparate impact, or failure to make a reasonable
accommodationSeeRegl Econ.Cmty.ActionProgram,Inc. v. City of Middletown294 F.3d
35, 48 (2d Cir. 2002)Acts of discrimination against a disabled student must be intentional to
support a claim arising under tRehabilitationAct, and courts in the Second Circuit regularly
require conduct that is akin to ‘bad faith or gross misjudgmehC’ ex rel. C. v. New Fairfield
Bd. ofEduc, No. 3:08cv-1591(VLB),2011 WL 1322563, at *21 (D. Conn. Mar. 31, 2011)

(quotingBrennan v. Regional Sch. Disb31 F. Supp. 2d 245 n.37 (D. Conn. 20083k also
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C.L. v. Scarsdal&nion Free Sch. Dist.744 F.3d 826, 841 (2d Cir. 2014) (“[A] Section 504
claim [based on the denial of a FAPE] . . . requires proof of bad faith or gross misjudgment
(citations omitted)

Plaintiffs have proceeded on the theory that Southington failed to make a reasonable
accommodationSeeCompl. T 8, ECF No.-1 (Oct. 14, 2016) (“Student was denied 504
Accommodations”); Pls.” Mem. at 41 (“[Southington], as a federal fund estipiv[as]
obligated to provide reasonable accommodations to [Student]’s physical and mentatydisabil
ensure that their programs, policies, services and/or activities were accessibbealle as
required by the Rehabilitation Act.” (emphasis omitteApsuming that Student has a qualifying
disability,12 “[a]t issue then is whether Studéwasdenied the opportunity to participate in or
benefit from [Southington’s] services, programs, or activities, or waswite discriminated
against by [Southington], by reason of [his] disabilityzenn 219 F. Supp. 3d at 322 (quoting
Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 74 (2d Cir. 2009)).

To the extent that Plaintiffs base the allegation of failure to make a reasonable
accommodation for Student on the denial of a FAPE, tblas®s must fail, because the Court
has already found that Southington provitleelStudenta FAPE. Furthermorajo reasonable
jury could conclude that Southington violated Student’s rights withesr the ADA or Section
504, becausée record lacks sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to conclude that
Southington acted in bad faith or gross misjudgment to intentionally discriminatetagains

Student And, since they filed their Complaint in late 2016, Plaintiffs have never sought to

124[Tlhe ADA and IDEA set forth distinct legal standaidstheir definitions of ‘disability,’ such that an individual
will not qualify for the ADA’s protections simply by virtue of his or her disabletustunder the IDEAB.C, 837
F.3d at 160. “Section 504 operates similarly to the ADA, prohibiting discriaman the basis of disability in
programs receiving federal financial suppolt.”’at 161 n.9. Consequently, “an IDEA disability is not equivalent to
a disability as conizable under the ADA and Section 504,” and Plaintiffs “cannot rely sabelyeoeipt of special
education’ to establish an ADA or Section 504 disabilitg."at 161 (citation omitted).
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supplement the record with additional discovery.

As previously discussed, tlrecord demonstrates thatudent’'s IEP provided reasonable
accommodations to ensure that Student had the same access to the benefits of a puldit educa
as all other student¥he record showSouthington acted diligently and thoughtfully in their
consideration of Student. “[SJomething more than a mere violation of the IDEA&ass&y in
order to show a violation of Section 504 in the context of educating children with disafjilit
S.W. byd.W. v. Warren528 F. Supp. 2d 282, 289 (S.D.N.Y. 20@f)d here, Plaintiffs have not
even established an IDEA violatidBee also C.I.2012 WL 983371, at *16 (“Even if Defendant
violated the IDEA by failing to provide [the student] with a FAPE, without acttidbace of
bad faith or gross misjudgment, this failure simply does not translate into a viaatioe
Rehabilitation Act.”).Consequently, the Court will dismiss PlaintiffDA and Section 504
claims.

As to Plaintiffs’ claims of discmination on the basis of Student’s race or national origin
as an individual of Asian descent, Plaintiffs have not met their burden. Undetléh¥ITi
framework, as already noted, Plaintiffs “must first satisfy the minbueden of making out a
prima fage case of discrimination; the burden then shifts to the defendant to produce a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its actions; and the final burdesnwiéls the plaintiff
to prove that . . . the defendant intentionally discriminated againstaimifl—here, on the
basis of race.Gant ex rel. Gant v. Wallingford Bd. of Edut95 F.3d 134, 146 (2d Cir. 1999)

(internal citations omitted). In this case, Plaintiffs have pointed to no exawiplacial or

13At oral argument, when asked what additional discovery would demonsteateiff8’ counsel answered only that
it would reveal more information about Plaintiffs’ subjective beliefs alsdiv asserted claim$his representation
fell short ofeventhe “plausible entitlement” to relief required at the pleading stageaintain a lawsuiSee
Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662678 (2009)“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on.ftgdacéing Bell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544570 (2007)))
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national origin discrimination in the rewb'* See, e.gGant 195 F.3d at 14%0 (“As a general
matter, race discrimination cannot reasonably be inferred merely from dfithdit a decision
amply supported by academic considerations and falling within the broad discretion of school
officials dfected a minority student and is open to seeguessing.”)see alscAshcroft v. Igbal
556 U.S. 662, 681 (2009) (finding that “conclusory” allegations for a constitutional
discrimination claim are “not entitled to be assumed true” (citwgmbly 550 US. at 554-55).
Consequently, the Court will also dismasy claims based on racial or national origin
discrimination.

To establish a retaliation claim under the ADA or Section 504, Plaintiffs shost “(1)
[they] w[ere]engaged in a [protectedttivity, (2) the[public entity]wasaware of that activity,
(3) an [Jaction adverse tgPlaintiffs] occurred, and (4) there existed a causal connection between
the protected activity and the advefisaction.” Sarno v. Douglas EllimatGibbons & Ives|nc.,
183 F.3d 155, 159 (2d Cir. 1999)A causal connection in retaliation claims can be shown either
(1) indirectly, by showing that the protected activity was followed closely by disaiary
treatment, or through other circumstantial evidence ssiclisparate treatment of fellow
employees who engaged in similar conduct; or (2) directly, through evidence ofaogtaliat

animus directed against the plaintiff by the defendatbfsky v. City of N., 921 F.3d 337,

14 Based on Plaintiffs’ history of zealous advocacy for themselves and Studsoitmany issues regardithg
Student’saducational experience in Southingtdmeabsence of record evidence of complaints to Southington
officials about the occurrence i@cial or national origin discriminatida notable

In any event,d the extent that Plaintifisow argughatSouthington was deliberately indifferent to
Student’sharassmenrt-which theyhave nopreviouslypledor argued-this claim alsomustfail on this recordTo
succeed on a deliberate indifference claim, a plaimifét prove that (1) the child in question was in fact hadass
by other students based on ra@ the defendant had actual knowledge of the harassment, and (3) the defendant’
response waslearly unreasonabli light of the knowncircumstances.’Karlenv. Landon 503 F. Appx 44, 46
(2d Cir. 2012)internal quotation marks omitte@uoting
Gantexrel. Gantv. WallingfordBd. of Educ.,195F.3d134, 140-141 &. 6 (2d Cir.1999))(citing DiStisov.
Cook,691 F.3d 226, 241 (2d Cir. 2012Q)n this record, howevehé Hearing Officer specifically fourtthat
“[aldministratorsworking directly with Student and his educational program did not witness agingull
harassment, or discrimination or receive complaints of s&afal Decision at 21.
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353 (2d Cir. 2019) (internal quotatis omitted) (citind-ittlejohn v. City of N.Y.795 F.3d 297,
319 (2d Cir. 2015)¢Gordon v.N.Y.C.Bd. of Edug.232 F.3d 111, 117 (2d Cir. 2000)).

“In adjudicating retaliation claims, courts follow the familiar burdéifting approach of
McDonnell Douglas Corp.v. Green 411 U.S.792(1973) Kaytor v. Electric Boat Corp609
F.3d 537, 552 (2d Cir. 2010). Under this framework, flajntiff must esablish a prima facie
case; the [entityinust offer through the introduction of admissible evidence a legitimate non
discriminatory reason for the discharge; and the plaintiff must then produce eviddroaey
the burden of persuasion that the proffered reason is a pr&8ertMcBride583 F.3d at 96
(citing Sistav. CDC Ixix N.A., InG.445 F.3d 161, 169 (2d Cir. 2006)). “The proper question for
a retaliation claim is whether the alleged adverse action to which the phlaiasiffubjected
could well have dissuaded a reason@bdéson]in his position from complaining of unlawful
discrimination” Davis-Garrett v. Urban Outfitters, Inc921 F.3d 30, 44 (2d Cir. 2019) (citing
Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. WIs#8 U.S. 53, 57 (2006 )finally, “Title VII
retaliation claims muse proved according to traditional principles of-tartcausation.'Univ.
of Tex Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassat33 S.Ct. 2517,2534 (2013).

The only new allegations applicable to Plaintiffs’ retaliation ctaare based on (1)
Student’s removal frorthe NationalJuniorHonor Society following an incident that resulted in
his suspension and (2) Southington’s alleged interference with Plaintiffaile
communicationsEven if Plaintiffs could establish a prinfecie case of retaliationhé¢ Court
finds that Southington had legitimate nondiscriminatory reasons for both thesaa@iggahich
warrant the dismissal of Plaintiffsétaliation claims as well, because similar to their failure to
establish bad faith on Southington’s part, Plaintiffs cannot meet their ultimakenbofr showing

discrimination as the but for cause of any alleged action
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First, as tdhe incident that resulted in Student’s suspension, the Hearing Officer did not
find thatSouthington’s etionsadversely impacted Student’s educati®ee, e.g.Final Decision
at16-17 Y 44 (noting Student’s “outstanding progress” in seventh grade, during which he was
suspended for three dayBurthermore, the legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for Stisden
removal from NationaluniorHonor Society was based on his suspension, which violated the
group’s code of conducAlthough Parents emphasize that “rnmails from [Student’s laptop]
containing confidential educational records were ever disseminated to any thiftl tharty
Studentwas not clearedf “any wrongdoing,’as Plaintiffsallege.SeePls.” Mem. at 4445.

Instead, iis undisputed thabn December 5, 201#he Studentremoved a flaskdrive from a
teacher’s computer that was on her desk,” and that thedtasih contained confidential
information about other studentiisability and IEPsSeeletter from Assistant Principal, ECF
No. 9065 at 29 (Dec. 9, 2014indicating that “[ulnder the Family Educational Rights and
Privacy Act (FERPA) personally identifiable information such as this regayadimgchild is to
remain confidential unless it is specifically released by yduig letter sent to impacted parents
and studets also indicated that “[iijmmediate disciplinary action was taken.”

While there is record evidence of this theft, and the Student’'s commission loéthatt
the motionhearing counsel for Plaintiffs emphasized the delay between the incident on
December 9, 2014, and Student’s removal from the National Junior Honor Socikywary
15, 2015 Seel_etter from NJHS Adviser, & No. 905 at 32 Despitethis argument ofemporal
proximity'® as the causal connection between these two instaftpesiporal proximity alone is

insufficient to defeat summary judgment at the pretext sta@sh Kwan v. Andalex Group

15 The only (and undisputed) record evidence of the cauésadelay in times the school holiday breakeeE-
mail Between J. Wong and S. Madancy, ECF Ne5 @0 27 (Dec. 22, 2014) (noting that Southington school
administrator “will be unable to provide any further requested documentation priertiolitiay break”).
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LLC, 737 F.3d 834, 847 (2d Cir. 2013ccordSanderson v. N.Y. State Elec. & Gas Cdp0

F. App’'x 88, 94 (2d Cir. 2014). A plaintiff would need other evidence, in addition to temporal
proximity, “such as inconsistent . explanations, to defeat summary judgmetlt.{collecting
cases)There are “no inconsistent explanations” in this reeatd respect tdhe Students

removal fromthe National Junior Honor Society. There is only one explanation in this record:
the Studentommitted “a flagrant violation of school rules or the lald.”"Consequently,
Plaintiffs cannot assert a plausible entitlement to relnetheir retaliation clainbased on
Student’s removal from the National Junior Honor Socigge Iqbal556 U.Sat678
(“conclusory statements” are insufficienge also idat678 (‘A claim has facial plausibility
when the plaintiff pleadfactual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct allegedih¢ciwombly 550 U.S.at 556).

Second, ato Southington’s allegelimitation of Plaintiffs’ communications with school
staff, thee is little record evidence to support any such limitation, and no record evidence
probative of any retaliationThe record indicatethatthe school staf€onsistently responded
thePlaintiffs. Seg e.g, Letterfrom Superiterdent of Schools to PISECF No. 965 at 33-34
(Jan. 8, 2015foutlining for Plaintiffs “the continued mutual expectations and procedural steps
for facilitating timely and appropriate responses and services to meetdti$ of Student
becaise of a new process instituted in response to their “hostile” messages wherebgdbuil
administrators take time each day to review all email messages” sent by Plairstiéf to
members “before those respective staff members receive thaga alscAdmin. Hrg. Tr., ECF
No. 841 at 209 (July 18, 2016) (Mr. Wong answering that he was “able to communicate with

school staff}.
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At the motion hearing, counsel for Plaintifeguedthat Southington affirmatively
blocked emails fromthe Plaintiffs. The record indicatefowever thatAnthony Tranquillo,
Southingtons technology analyst, testified that Southington’ssit# server independently
marked one of Plaintiffs’-enail addreses as sparitf In any eventon thisrecord,consistent
with the Hearing Officer’s findingghe Plaintiffswere not preventeflom communicating with
SouthingtonSee alsd-inal Decision at 20 (finding that “Parents were able to communicate with
[Southingtonjadministrators and teachers widner personal email address$dsiting Plaintiffs’
testimony)).

Plaintiffs thus have no viable retaliation clairddtimately, Plaintiffs failure to establish
the denial of a FAPE warrants the dismissal of their @lAf@A and Section 504 claims as well.

Accordingly,the Court will dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims for discrimination and retaliation
under the ADA and Section 504.

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the CO®NIES Plaintiffs motion for judgment on
the administrative record al@RANTS Southington’s motion for judgment on the
administrative record

The Clerk of Court is respectfully directed to enter judgmentcéos® this case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, thidh day of August, 2P0.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden

Victor A. Bolden
United States District Judge

16 At one of the hearing days, July 26, 2016, Mr. Tranquillo testified: “our enraérseare run by a company called
Digital Back Office. And so it’s offsite and it's not run by us. Servers are hostezhisose else. | spoke to
someone at the Digital Back Office anldg email address in question] was blocked for sending spam.” Admin.
Hrg. Tr., ECF No. 82 at 8:59 (July 26, 2016). He also testified that he was “just made aware ge#tezday,”

id. at 9:13-14, “[n]o one directed [him] to block that emailg: at 10:6, and that “parents and teachers were able to
communicate” using Plaintiffs’ two otherreail addressedq. at 46:16-20.
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